# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/5/2018 3:50 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 76478-1-I

No. \_96270-7

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALONCITA MONROE,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Defendant/Respondent.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### THE SHERIDAN LAW FIRM, P.S.

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473 Mark W. Rose, WSBA #41916 705 Second Avenue, Suite 1200 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 381-5949

Attorneys for Petitioners

#

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER / INTRODUCTION

This is a related case to <u>Johnson et. al. v. City of Seattle</u>, Supreme Court No. 96043-7.

At the recommendation of a City retained doctor, a disabled white woman with a documented history of anxiety and depression, was transferred from one City of Seattle department to another as an accommodation, because the City's doctor opined that in her then current assignment, "her increase in anxiety and depression symptoms would limit her ability to adequately concentrate, withstand day-to-day usual work stresses and interact appropriately with supervisors and coworkers." So the disabled white woman was transferred to the City's Department of Transportation, and was assigned to work under the supervision of a six foot two, 305-pound black male supervisor with a history of aggressive behavior at work.

One day her black supervisor cornered the disabled white woman in a women's restroom at work. He stood outside the restroom door pounding with his fist and yelling for her to get out. He wanted her to take a fitness for duty exam off site, and she said she would go, but she wanted her sister, also an employee, to accompany her, because the disabled white woman was afraid to be alone with this large, black man. Her anxiety

peeked in the women's restroom; she had soiled herself in fear; she called her shop steward from inside the restroom. Through the telephone, the white shop steward heard the yelling and banging, and after the disabled white woman handed the black manager the phone through a partially opened restroom door, she proposed having a third party join them. The black manager yelled at the shop steward saying, "It's too late" [for the disabled white woman to get the fitness for duty exam now]. The disabled white woman left the workplace after her security badge was taken.

The disabled white woman with the disability was then terminated for leaving her work place and for refusing the fitness for duty exam despite testimony to the contrary.

The facts stated above describe the case of the petitioner with one vital exception—**Petitioner Aloncita Monroe is not white; she is black**.

Many white readers of these paragraphs may have been horrified and outraged by the black manager's treatment of the disabled white woman in the workplace. Yet for reasons they may not be able to explain, they may find that the effect of knowing now that the female employee is actually black, has somewhat diminished the outrage and horror felt in hearing the facts.<sup>1</sup> This is the nature of implicit bias: bias held by all of us

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to prominent scholar and expert witness Dr. Anthony Greenwald, "seventy percent of Americans hold implicit prejudiced views based on race, color, national origin

including by the jury, the judge, and all persons present at trial.

In recent history, in some states, lesser conduct by a black man, if directed against a white woman, could have led to a lynching.<sup>2</sup> In those same states, this author knows of no instance in which the same alleged conduct by a black or white man against a black woman, ever led to a lynching. It may be that white society discounts the significance of violence against black women.<sup>3</sup>

A means of fighting against such bias in the courtroom is through the use of an implicit bias jury instruction. The petitioner proposed two, but the Respondent City of Seattle vehemently objected to their use, and the Honorable John Erlick agreed with the respondent. He also excluded a pretext instruction proposed by the petitioner, a continuing duty to accommodate instruction proposed by the petitioner, and included an essential functions element in the disability discrimination instruction even though the trial court admitted its inclusion made little sense and was confusing.

and ethnicity." <u>Samaha v. Washington State Dep't of Transp.</u>, No. CV-10-175-RMP, 2012 WL 11091843, at \*1 (E.D. Wash. Jan. 3, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Equal Justice Initiative, "Lynching In America: Confronting The Legacy Of Racial Terror," Third Edition, available at: https://lynchinginamerica.eji.org/report/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "The legal and social double standard that allowed white men to commit sexual violence against black women with impunity, while the most baseless fear of sexual contact between a black man and white woman resulted in deadly violence, continued after emancipation. Nearly one in four black people lynched from 1877 to 1945 were accused of improper contact with a disabled white woman." Equal Justice Initiative, available at https://eji.org/history-racial-injustice-sexual-exploitation-black-women.

During deliberations, Mr. Willie J. Neal, Jr., the only black juror out of the twelve deliberating jurors, left the deliberations to visit the restroom. Judge Erlick had cautioned the jury not to deliberate unless everyone was in the room. At the time of his departure, he and two white jurors had voted in favor of plaintiff's failure to accommodate claim. While in the restroom, he could hear talking. When he came out, without further discussion, a new vote was taken, and without explanation or discussion, one of the two white jurors changed her vote now voting against liability. Immediately, the Asian American foreperson pressed the button to summon the clerk and to present their decision. The jury was polled and confirmed a 10-2 verdict for the City on the failure to accommodate claim and 11-1 verdicts on the other claims. Two days later, Mr. Neal completed a sworn statement outlining these troubling facts. He concluded that improper deliberations occurred while he was in the restroom. CP 972-74 (Appendix at 1-3).

The Neal Declaration became the focus of plaintiff's motion for a new trial, but the uncontradicted sworn statement by Mr. Neal, the only black juror, was not enough to overturn the verdict. The City submitted no contradictory evidence from any other juror or any other source. Judge Erlick denied the motion and asked, "**How do we know that it wasn't the African American juror's implicit bias towards your client**?" *See* RP

#### (1/27 Albino) 17 (emphasis added). The following exchange followed:

MR. SHERIDAN: Well, that is the difficulty, Your Honor, is that we -- we have to be mindful that our own implicit biases don't infect the proceedings here today. And the whole purpose -- the whole purpose of the implicit bias jury instruction and the whole purpose of the ABA's ... 2016 guidance<sup>4</sup> on how we should conduct jury trials is that this exists in everything we do, and it exists in whites against blacks. That's what the studies say. And the terrible part about not giving that instruction, given the fact that the ABA says to give it, is that it's not like, you know, the global warming argument where you an find 1 percent of the scientific community say, 'There's no evidence.' We have a situation where every single scholarly article -including Judge Doyle's article, which I just happened to see vesterday -- they all say that it is helpful to address implicit bias head-on. And -- and --

THE COURT: And you did.

MR. SHERIDAN: -- yes.

THE COURT: You addressed it in voir dire. You addressed in the opening -- your opening statement. You addressed it in your closing argument. You raised it throughout this entire trial.

. . . .

MR. SHERIDAN: ... [S]ometime in our lives, Judge, it is going to be a no-brainer that implicit bias is examined, and maybe those -- maybe that test is going to be given during jury -- during -- you know, during jury orientation to sensitize people. But also, to get back to what you said, which is the idea of Sheridan got to argue it; what's the harm? Well, we have extensive citation in our briefs where courts have said there's a big difference between having an instruction and having a defense -- a plaintiff's or defense lawyer argue something. The instruction is -- carries the weight. The lawyers arguments -- remember the first thing out of [defense counsel] Mr. Johnson's mouth when he -when he stood up was -- in closing was, 'Well, good thing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See American Bar Assocation, Principles for Juries and Jury Trials, Principle 6(c) (2016), filed at CP 1127 (Appendix at 26).

this is argument. You don't have to believe what Sheridan said.' And that's the difference between you saying it and me saying it. And, basically, the cases that – you'll see them in our reply brief and other places -- but it's -- basically says that, you know -- the *Townsend* case, it says, 'It's unreasonable to expect jurors, aided only by arguments of counsel, will intuitively grasp a point of law until recently eluded by both judge ...-'

RP (1/27 Albino) 17; see also RP (12/19 Moll) 1916.

This exchange with this highly respected white trial judge demonstrates that implicit bias infects us all, and that failure to give an implicit bias jury instruction in this case is a constitutional violation and an abuse of discretion, because an implicit bias jury instruction promotes consciousness and introspection, which are methods of fighting those biases.<sup>5</sup> The uncontested sworn statement of the only black juror should have been enough to support a new trial. His sworn factual testimony was strong circumstantial evidence of juror misconduct in violation of the Washington State Constitution and the failure to grant a new trial was an abuse of discretion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "Research on the role of attention in weakening the effects of implicit cognition . . . supports consciousness raising as a strategy for avoiding unintended discrimination. That is, when a decision maker is aware of the source and nature of a bias in judgment, that bias may effectively be anticipated and avoided. Consciousness raising may also have some value in attenuating implicit bias when the source of implicit bias is not properly identified, as suggested by findings that attentional effort reduces effects of weak cues." Greenwald, A. G., & Banaji, M. R. (1995). "Implicit social cognition: Attitudes, Self-Esteem, and Stereotypes." Psychological Review, page 16. Available at: http://faculty.washington.edu/agg/pdf/Greenwald\_Banaji\_PsychRev\_1995.OCR.pdf.

Today more than ever, we need a frequent recurrence to fundamental principles because—today more than ever—it is essential to the security of individual rights and the perpetuity of free government. Const. art. I, § 32. The overarching issue is, what Supreme Court actions are needed to ensure that a black person gets a fair trial in Washington State? If this Court does nothing, injustice will prevail and discontent will ferment in all affected communities.

This petition for review should be accepted by the Supreme Court because the petition raises significant questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington; and involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b) (3) and (4). Additionally, once the juror misconduct is confirmed, the petition demonstrates that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with Supreme Court precedent. RAP 13.4(b) (1). Upon review, the jury verdict should be set aside and a new trial granted with new rules requiring an implicit bias instruction when requested and for evaluating juror misconduct.

### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The opinion of the Court of Appeals was entered on August 6, 2018 (the "Opinion" or "Op."). The Opinion, which is attached at the Appendix, pages 4 through 18, affirmed the trial court's decisions in all

respects.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of a new trial, because Mr. Neal did not actually hear the deliberations, holding that Mr. Neal's sworn statement does not amount to the "strong, affirmative showing of misconduct necessary to overcome the policy in favor of stable verdicts." Op., Appendix at 9. The Court also affirmed the ruling even though it acknowledged that the jury was separated during the time Mr. Neal was in the restroom, and recognized the applicability of RCW 4.44.300 (requiring that the jury must be kept together in a room provided for them), as well as the applicability of the Supreme Court holding in <u>State v. Smalls</u>, 99 Wn.2d 755, 766, 665 P.2d 384 (1983) (if the jury is separated, a presumption arises that the defendant has been prejudiced), but concluded that these issues could be disregarded, because the "juror left merely to use the restroom." Op., Appendix at 10, fn. 8.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the trial court's failure to give an implicit bias jury instruction, which would have provoked juror introspection, and another, which would have explained that false testimony can be used to prove discrimination. *See* Op., Appendix at 13; and Proposed Instructions 4 and 17, Appendix at 21-22. As to the implicit bias instruction, the Court noted that "Monroe cites no Washington authority that has ever found error in not giving an implicit bias

instruction. And, Monroe was able to and did address her implicit bias theory in her closing argument." Op., Appendix at 13.

As to the pretext instruction, relying on *Farah*, the Court held, "To the extent that Monroe's theory of the case was that the City had presented a pretextual reason for terminating her, she had the opportunity to present that theory during her case in chief. And, in her closing arguments, she articulated her theory of pretext to the jury." Op., Appendix at 14.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's failure to give a continuing duty to accommodate instruction, and in doing so, ignored the Ninth Circuit holding in *Humphrey* that followed the EEOC Enforcement Guidance notes stating that the duty to accommodate is ongoing. The Court held that "Monroe was able to argue her theory of the case without the [proposed instruction]. Op., Appendix at 15-16.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to include an essential functions element in the disability discrimination instruction even though the trial court admitted its inclusion made little sense and was confusing, because the disability discrimination claim under these facts should only have required that the plaintiff prove that her disability was a substantial factor in the termination. Op., Appendix at 11-12.

The Court of Appeals did not consider the cumulative effect of these errors.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Knowing that implicit bias permeates modern American society, is it a constitutional violation or an abuse of discretion for the trial court and the Court of Appeals to discount and diminish the uncontradicted sworn statement of a black juror when that statement provided strong circumstantial evidence of juror misconduct under RCW 4.44.300?

2. Knowing that implicit bias permeates modern American society, in a case involving a black plaintiff, does the Court of Appeals decision denying the reality of juror misconduct based on a new "restroom" exemption conflict with the Supreme Court's holding in <u>State v. Smalls</u>, and should the Court have found that the trial court should have investigated the misconduct claim or accepted the declaration as true, and that the City failed to overcome the presumption that black Petitioner Aloncita Monroe was prejudiced?

3. Knowing that implicit bias permeates modern American society, in a case involving a black plaintiff, is it a constitutional violation and an issue of substantial public interest to exclude a proposed jury instruction on implicit bias?

4. Knowing that implicit bias permeates modern American society, in a case involving a black plaintiff, is it a constitutional violation or an issue of substantial public interest to exclude a jury instruction on pretext?

5. Is it an issue of substantial public interest and an abuse of discretion to exclude a continuing duty to accommodate instruction as adopted by the Ninth Circuit holding in *Humphrey*?

6. Is it an issue of substantial public interest and an abuse of discretion to include an essential functions element in the disability discrimination instruction even though its inclusion makes little sense and is confusing?

7. Is it an issue of substantial public interest that the Court of Appeals did not consider the cumulative effect of these errors?

### **D.** STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. The Facts As Stated By The Court of Appeals

The petitioner accepts the facts stated by the Court of Appeals and adds the following additional facts.

#### 2. Paul Jackson Was a Bully And Ms. Monroe was Disabled

Evidence presented at trial showed that Jackson led "through fear, threats and intimidation" and described their work environment as "toxic and hostile." *See* Ex. 73. There was documentation that he engaged in "[s]everal instances of loud, intimidating, rude and disrespectful behavior." *Id.*, at 2. Jackson was physically large—over six feet two inches tall, and in 2013, weighed approximately 305 pounds. RP 394.

Ms. Monroe's condition affects her work in that it limits her

"ability to focus, concentrate, and communicate." RP 603; Ex. 270 (MONR006605). To focus, she sometimes hums or "may say something to [her]self," RP 1332-33, 600; and when speaking, looks up at the ceiling occasionally. RP 1338. *See also*, Ex. 45, at ¶ 2 (Dr. Vandenbelt).

The Citywide ADA Coordinator, Mr. McClenney, testified that his goal in working with Monroe was to "put her in a position that met the restrictions and the limitations ... identified by her doctor," RP 1034, "to place her in an environment that was less stressful than the one she was coming from," RP 1038, and "to find a job that would allow her to still be successful despite the fact that she had problems with focus, concentration, and communication." RP 1106.

### **3. DOT Management and Staff Questioned Monroe's Ability to** Do the Assigned Job

Concerns with Monroe's ability to perform the AS1 job at SDOT appeared almost immediately. Two days after she started at SDOT, her coworker, Sharon DeWitt, complained to Monroe about having "to repeat the answers to her questions several times," and how "it took all day [for Monroe] to do an accident report and enter calls into the dispatch log sheet." RP 1546-48. DeWitt testified that Monroe "was unfocused and … took copious amounts of notes, but then never seemed to be able to refer back to the notes." RP 1533. DeWitt testified that she also observed Monroe "sort of staring at the screen and nothing was happening," and when she was asked if that occurred throughout the 90 days that

**Monroe worked at SDOT,** DeWitt replied, "it happened a lot." RP 1533-34. Mr. Jackson admits that Monroe raised concerns with him about Ms. DeWitt "not being a good colleague" or polite to Monroe. RP 504.

### 4. The Incident

When Jackson told Monroe on February 8 that she was allegedly acting odd, Monroe asked, " 'When did all this happen? Did it happen within a week, a day, an hour?' And he said ..., 'No, it's been just over the three-hour period,'" that morning. RP 1337. No one had told Monroe they thought she was acting strange. *Id.* She told Jackson it was "not true," and asked him "what really is all this about?" RP 1338-39.

Monroe testified Jackson "snapped the form from [her]," and that the entire incident led her to get hot flashes, that she "started to, um, wet my panties," causing her to head to the restroom to take care of the issue, as "urine [was] coming down [her] leg." RP 1359-60.

The union representative, Lisa Jacobs, testified that over the phone she could hear "this loud noise in the background," what turned out to be Mr. Jackson "banging on the door" of the locker room. RP 353-54. Jacobs had Monroe pass the phone to Jackson through the doorway, in order to explain that Monroe was "willing to take the fit for duty if her sister can come along." RP 353, 355. Jackson responded, " 'No, too late,' in a very

firm, dismissive, booming voice." RP 355-56. Jacobs tried to explain that she had already spoken with HR and everything was okay, but Jackson persisted in refusing to let Monroe continue with the exam, stating that "he gave her a chance, 'No, [it's] too late." *Id.* At trial, Jackson denied saying it was "too late," but had admitted it in his deposition. *See* RP 401-02.

- E. ARGUMENT
- 1. Knowing That Implicit Bias Permeates Modern American Society, It Is A Constitutional Violation For The Trial Court And The Court Of Appeals To Discount And Diminish The Uncontradicted Sworn Statement Of A Black Juror When That Statement Provided Strong Circumstantial Evidence Of Juror Misconduct Under RCW 4.44.300

"The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." Const. art. I, §

21. During deliberations, the jury "must be kept together in a room

provided for them." RCW 4.44.300; see Appendix at 27. "RCW 4.44.300

continues to prohibit separation of the jurors during deliberations." Smalls,

99 Wn.2d at 766.

Mr. Neil's sworn testimony describes how the jury was not kept

together during deliberations. He swore,

- The failure to accommodate was first. Three of us voted 'yes,' meaning we voted in favor of Ms. Monroe on that claim, which caused the group to go on to the next claim, and then come back and revisit the first claim.
- Each time three of us voted 'yes.' I voted in favor of a 'yes' vote to each of the claims.
- We were told by Judge Erick not to deliberate when anyone was out of the room.
- Toward the end of the morning, I went to the bathroom. I was in there

for a few minutes. As I went to open the bathroom door to rejoin the group, I could hear the jurors talking, but I could not hear what was being said.

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