FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/5/2018 1:03 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96270-7

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALONCITA MONROE, Appellant

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE, Respondent.

# ANSWER OF RESPONDENT TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

SARAH TILSTRA, WSBA #35706 Assistant City Attorney Seattle City Attorney's Office 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, WA 98104-7097 (206) 684-8200

Attorneys for Respondent

#

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

RCW 4.44.300 (2002) (amended 2003); see also CP 1291.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In *Smalls*, over the defendant's objection, the trial court sent the jury home at 8:45 p.m. after the first day of deliberation, to return the following morning. 99 Wn.2d at 766, 767. The Court applied a presumption of prejudice, noting that jurors might be influenced by contact with family, friends, or the media. *Id.* at 766.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Regardless, it is doubtful that Mr. Neal's use of the restroom would qualify as "separation," as he used the bathroom <u>inside</u> the jury room. *See* RP 34-35 (1/27), RP 50 (1/27), CP 973 ("As I went to open the bathroom door to rejoin the group, I could hear the jurors talking. When I opened the door, everyone stopped talking…").

deliberations." *Long v. Brusco Tug & Barge, Inc.*, 185 Wn.2d 127, 131, 368 P.3d 478 (2016). "[A] juror's postverdict statements regarding the way in which the jury reached its verdict cannot be used to support a motion for a new trial." *Breckenridge*, 150 Wn.2d at 205.<sup>11</sup>

Ms. Monroe's entire argument hinges on the inference that, because a juror changed her vote after Mr. Neal returned from the restroom, deliberations (as opposed to, say, discussions about holiday plans or the Seahawks) must have occurred while he was in the restroom. But, as the trial court noted, this inference necessarily probes the reasons for, and timing of, this other juror's decision-making process. No one knows when or why the juror changed her mind, and Mr. Neal's speculation on this issue strikes at the heart of the prohibition of inquiry into "[t]he mental processes by which individual jurors reached their respective conclusions . . . ." *Cox v. Charles Wright Acad., Inc.*, 70 Wn.2d 173, 179-80, 422 P.2d 515 (1967). The trial court correctly concluded that the alleged misconduct inhered in the verdict. *See State v. Hatley*, 41 Wn. App. 789, 793, 706 P.2d 1083 (1985) (evidence concerning jurors' mental processes, including when they made up their minds, inheres in the verdict).

Yet even if misconduct occurred, there is no prejudice. Whether

<sup>11</sup> Whether facts inhere in the verdict is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Long*, 185 Wn.2d at 131.

misconduct is prejudicial is a matter of trial court discretion. *Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 59 Wn. App. 266, 271, 796 P.2d 737 (1990). The trial court found that "it would be purely speculation that any misconduct, if it existed, prejudiced the plaintiff." RP 55-56 (1/27). This was not an abuse of discretion, as there is no evidence that any deliberation without Mr. Neal caused the third juror to change her vote. To hold otherwise would be to allow any verdict to be imperiled by the speculation of an unhappy juror, making the jury verdict "the first round in an interminably prolonged trial process." *Hatley*, 41 Wn. App. at 794. There are no significant constitutional issues, and this Court should deny review.

# B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion or Misstate the Law in Its Instructions to the Jury.

Ms. Monroe claims that the failure to give her proposed instructions on implicit bias, pretext, and continuing duty violated her constitutional rights and was an abuse of discretion. A party is not entitled to an instruction simply because it may accurately state the law; instead, the well-established test is whether the instructions, read as a whole, sufficiently inform the jury of applicable law, are not misleading, and allow each party to argue its theory of the case. *Crossen v. Skagit County*, 100 Wn.2d 355, 360, 669 P.2d 1244 (1983). Here, the trial court's exercise of its discretion in denying Ms.

Monroe's proposed instructions<sup>12</sup> did not implicate any significant constitutional or substantial public interest issues, as the instructions given were sufficient and no prejudice was shown. Moreover, the disability discrimination instruction accurately stated the law and was not prejudicial; therefore, no substantial public interest issue is implicated.

#### 1. Implicit Bias Instruction

Ms. Monroe claims that the trial court's refusal to give her requested implicit bias instruction was either a constitutional violation or an abuse of discretion, but she offers no analysis of this claim. Moreover, she has failed to address the applicable standard: whether the instructions given allowed her to argue her theory of the case, were not misleading, and as a whole informed the jury of applicable law. *Crossen*, 100 Wn.2d at 360.

An analysis of this standard shows that there was no abuse of discretion or constitutional violation. The trial court gave Instruction No. 1, based on Washington Pattern Instruction ("WPI") 1.02, 13 which read, in part:

You must reach your decision based on the facts proved to you and on the law given to you, not on sympathy, bias, or personal preference. To ensure that all parties receive a fair trial, you must act impartially with an earnest desire to reach a proper verdict.

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> A trial court's decision not to give a proposed instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Terrell v. Hamilton*, 190 Wn. App. 489, 505, 358 P.3d 453 (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> As Ms. Monroe notes, WPI 1.02 has since been modified to include a sentence telling jurors that, in assessing credibility, they must avoid bias, "conscious or unconscious, including bias based on religion, ethnicity, race, sexual orientation, gender or disability."

CP 926. An oral version of this instruction was given before opening statements (*see* RP 274-75), and an additional oral instruction along similar lines was given after closing statements:

Each of you must decide the case for yourself, but only after an impartial consideration of all of the evidence with your fellow jurors. Here I offer you the following guidelines: Respect each other's opinions and different viewpoints that each of you bring to this process. Don't be afraid to speak up and express your views. Be patient and generous in allowing everyone an opportunity to be heard. Differences of opinion are healthy. They bring the evidence into focus and bring out points that you yourself may not have considered. Listen carefully to each other, even after you have spoken. Keep your mind open while you listen to others.

RP 1962 (based on WPI 6.18). Citing to Instruction No. 1, the Court of Appeals found no abuse of discretion. Op. at 10. And, as it further noted, Ms. Monroe addressed implicit bias in closing argument. *Id.*, RP 1865-66. She therefore cannot show prejudice. The trial court was within its discretion to decline Ms. Monroe's implicit bias instruction, and the instructions given were sufficient to allow her to argue her theory of the case.

Ms. Monroe also argues that this Court should implement a bright line rule <u>requiring</u> an implicit bias instruction in every case requested. She offers no compelling rationale for so curtailing the discretion of the trial court in instructing the jury, and certainly does not demonstrate that the Constitution requires adopting such a bright line rule. This Court should deny review on this issue.

#### 2. Pretext Instruction

Ms. Monroe claims that it was "at least" an abuse of discretion to decline to give her pretext instruction in a discrimination case. Again, she offers no analysis of this claim. Moreover, as she notes, Division I of the Court of Appeals addressed the same issue in *Farah v. Hertz Transp., Inc.*, 196 Wn. App. 171, 177, 383 P.3d 552 (2016), *rev. denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1023, 390 P.3d 332 (2017): whether the trial court's refusal to give a virtually identical pretext instruction was an abuse of discretion. The Court of Appeals held that although the instruction "might be appropriate, the arguments in its favor are not compelling enough to hold that it is an abuse of discretion to refuse to give the instruction." *Id.* at 181. Counsel for the *Farah* plaintiffs (also counsel for Ms. Monroe) petitioned for review, and on March 7, 2017, this Court denied review. 187 Wn.2d 1023. Ms. Monroe does not explain how her case differs from *Farah* such that the standard for accepting review on this issue is now met.<sup>14</sup>

Ms. Monroe also utterly fails to address prejudice. An error in refusing to give a jury instruction is harmless if it did not affect the outcome of the case (*Terrell*, 190 Wn. App. at 499, 502), and Ms. Monroe must show prejudice. *Griffin v. West RS, Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 81, 91, 18 P.3d 558 (2001).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> On October 3, 2018, this Court denied review of *Johnson, et al. v. Seattle Public Utilities, et al.*, No. 96043-7, a case with the same implicit bias and pretext issues.

She cannot meet this burden because, as the Court of Appeals noted (Op. at 11), she explicitly argued her pretext theory in closing:

Also, we are going to talk to you about pretext, which means that in a world where people are doing what's right, there is no reason not to tell the truth. If they are not telling the truth, you can conclude that they are not telling the truth because they don't want you to know the truth. And so I'm going to show you a bunch of places where those witnesses, when we call them on our case, they did not tell the truth. . . . And that is evidence of discrimination. Because if they weren't discriminating, they would tell the truth.

RP 1883; *see also* RP 1959 ("They lied because of discrimination. You just have to connect the dots."). In fact, in closing Ms. Monroe accused nearly <u>all</u> of the City's witnesses of lying (RP 1866-68, RP 1884, RP 1886-87, RP 1893-94, RP 1897-1900, RP 1961); therefore no prejudice can be shown. See Farah, 196 Wn. App. at 181 (pattern instructions are sufficient to allow a plaintiff who wishes to argue relevant pretext to do so); *McDonald v. Dept.* of Labor & Indus., 104 Wn. App. 617, 625-26, 17 P.3d 1195 (2001) (affirming because plaintiff did not show how he was precluded from arguing his theory of the case). Because Ms. Monroe has presented no reason for this Court to reconsider its decision to deny review in Farah, nor shown that constitutional or public interest issues are implicated by the trial court's

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Ms. Monroe cites *Townsend v. Lumbermans Mut. Cas. Co.*, 294 F.3d 1232, 1241 n. 5 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002) for the proposition that argument by counsel about pretext is insufficient, and that an instruction is necessary. But *Farah* explicitly considered *Townsend* and ultimately rejected its reasoning, finding that the general instructions were sufficient. 196 Wn. App. at 180-81. Ms. Monroe's reliance on *Townsend* is therefore misplaced.

decision, this Court should deny review.

### 3. Continuing Duty Instruction

Ms. Monroe claims that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to give her proposed instruction (CP 910) on the employer's "continuing duty" to accommodate an employee with disabilities. However, the trial court's Instruction No. 10, verbatim from WPI 330.34 (and jointly proposed, *see* CP 867), correctly described the duty of reasonable accommodation:

Once an employer is on notice of an impairment, the employer has a duty to inquire about the nature and extent of the impairment. The employee has a duty to cooperate with her employer to explain the nature and extent of the employee's impairment and resulting limitations as well as her qualifications. . . .

CP 935. This instruction allowed Ms. Monroe to argue her theory of the case, and, as the Court of Appeals noted, was a correct statement of the law. Op. at 12.

Moreover, despite the absence of her proposed instruction, Ms.

Monroe did, in fact, argue in closing that the City had a continuing duty to accommodate, citing the City's own Disability Resource Guide. RP 1891-92; see also RP 1911, RP 1960. She therefore cannot demonstrate prejudice.

McDonald, 104 Wn. App. at 625-26 (plaintiff did not show how he was precluded from arguing his theory of the case). Because Ms. Monroe has not shown that any constitutional or public interest issues are implicated by the

trial court's exercise of its discretion, review should be denied.

### 4. Disability Discrimination Instruction

Despite the fact that Instruction No. 13 was taken verbatim from WPI 330.32, Ms. Monroe claims it is not accurate because it erroneously requires her to prove that "she is able to perform the essential functions of the job in question with reasonable accommodation." *See* CP 938.

The instruction, however, is accurate. The Note on Use for WPI 330.32 says to "[u]se this instruction, rather than WPI 330.01 Employment Discrimination – Disparate Treatment – Burden of Proof, in a case of discriminatory treatment when the basis of the claim is disability." The pattern instructions set forth a different instruction for disability disparate treatment claims because, unlike employees in other protected categories, an employer may discharge a disabled employee if that employee's disability prevents her from performing the essential functions of the job. Indeed, the WLAD explicitly states that "the prohibition against discrimination because of such disability shall not apply if the particular disability prevents the proper performance of the particular worker involved . . . "RCW 49.60.180(1).

Case law also recognizes that an employee claiming disability discrimination must prove that she can perform her job's essential functions. *See Clarke v. Shoreline Sch. Dist. No. 412, King County*, 106 Wn.2d 102, 119, 720 P.2d 793 (1986) ("an employer may discharge a handicapped

employee who is unable to perform an essential function of the job"); *Bass v. City of Tacoma*, 90 Wn. App. 681, 688, 953 P.2d 129 (1998), *as amended*, 976 P.2d 1248 (1999) (plaintiff "must prove (1) that the City made an adverse employment decision; (2) that she was disabled; (3) that her disability was a substantial factor in the City's adverse employment decision; and (4) that she was, or with reasonable accommodation would have been, able and qualified to perform the essential functions of the job."). WPI 330.32 reflects this commonsense concept. The trial court properly gave the instruction, and the Court of Appeals correctly found that it did not misstate the law. *See* Op. at 9.

Even if the instruction were erroneous, however, Ms. Monroe cannot show prejudice. *See Boeing Co. v. Key*, 101 Wn. App. 629, 633, 5 P.3d 16 (2000) ("An erroneous instruction does not require reversal unless prejudice is shown."). "Error is not prejudicial unless it affects or presumptively affects the outcome of the trial." *Goodman v. Boeing Co.*, 75 Wn. App. 60, 68, 877 P.2d 703 (1994). No party argued that Ms. Monroe was unable to perform the essential functions of her job. In fact, in closing argument the City maintained that Ms. Monroe could do the SDOT job, without any restriction, pointing to the conclusions of Dr. Bjarke and Dr. Vandenbelt that she could do the AS1 job, so long as it was not at SPU. *See* RP 1935-43. The City further argued that "the only question" for the jury to answer, with respect to the disability disparate treatment claim, was whether Ms. Monroe

"was fired only because of what she did on February 8th" (RP 1946); the City did not argue that inability to perform the essential functions of the job was the reason. Any error, then, was not prejudicial. *See, e.g., State v. Moton,* 51 Wn. App. 455, 458-60, 754 P.2d 687 (1988) (despite "to convict" instruction erroneously not specifying the person allegedly assaulted, error was harmless because evidence and argument of the parties were clear in specifying the victim). There are no substantial public interest issues raised, and this Court should deny review.

#### C. There Were No Errors to Cumulate.

Given that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in any of the ways claimed by Ms. Monroe, there is no cumulation of errors.

#### V. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, review should be denied.